Offprint from **Advances and Technical Standards in Neurosurgery, Vol. 32** Edited by J.D. Pickard © Springer-Verlag/Wien 2007 – Printed in Austria – Not for Sale

# Percutaneous destructive pain procedures on the upper spinal cord and brain stem in cancer pain: CT-guided techniques, indications and results

Y. KANPOLAT

Department of Neurosurgery, School of Medicine, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey

With 16 Figures

### Contents

Abstract
Introduction
CT-Guided percutaneous cordotomy 149
Anatomic target
Indications and contraindications 151
Technique
Preparation of the patient
Positioning
Anatomic localization with CT 154
Physiologic localization
Lesions
Postoperative
Results and complications
CT-Guided trigeminal tractotomy-nucleotomy (TR-NC)
Anatomic target
Indications and contraindications
Technique
Preparation of the patient
Positioning
Anatomic localization with CT 160
Physiologic localization
Lesions
Postoperative
Results and complications 162

CT-Guided extralemniscal myelotomy16	3
Anatomic target	5
Indications and contraindications	5
Technique	5
Preparation of the patient	5
Positioning	5
Anatomic localization with CT 16	5
Physiologic localization	6
Lesions	8
Postoperative	8
Results and complications	8
Conclusions	9
Acknowledgement	0
References	1

### Abstract

In the century of science and technology, the average life span has increased, bringing with it an increase in the incidence of degenerative and cancer disease. Intractable pain is usually the main symptom of cancer. With the advancement in technology, there is a large group of patients with intractable pain problems who can benefit from special help medically or surgically. Destructive pain procedures are necessary to control the cancer pain and are based on the lesioning of the pain conducting pathways. Percutaneous cordotomy, trigeminal tractotomy and extralemniscal myelotomy are special methods based on lesioning of the pain conducting pathways. The procedure consists of obtaining direct morphological appearance of the upper spinal cord and surrounding structures by computed tomography (CT). The next step is functional evaluation of the target and its environment by impedance measurement and stimulation. The final step is terminated with controlled lesioning obtained by a radiofrequency system (generator, needles, electrode system).

In the last two decades, CT-guided destructive procedures were used as minimally invasive procedures as follows: percutaneous cordotomy (207 patients), trigeminal tractotomy-nucleotomy (65 patients), and extralemniscal myelotomy (16 patients). Most of these patients had cancer pain.

Minimally invasive CT-guided destructive pain procedures are still safe and effective operations for relieving intractable cancer pain in selected cases.

*Keywords:* Intractable cancer pain; percutaneous cordotomy; trigeminal tractotomynucleotomy; extralemniscal myelotomy.

#### Introduction

In the last two decades, the impact of technology in medical practice has highly dominated our lives. In this period, the terms quality of life, minimally invasive,

robotic, high technology, high-tech, neuromodulation, and neurostimulation have become widely accepted. As a result, those surgical treatment methods utilizing high technology and appearing to be minimally invasive have gained widespread acceptance. Unfortunately, as a consequence of this process over time, some less technological but highly effective methods are neglected or discounted and become generally perceived as dangerous.

In pain surgery, some of the very important and effective procedures have basically been abandoned in developed western literature because of their risky application. Some pain-relieving procedures are currently described as destructive, minimally invasive, safe and effective, but they are rarely preferred in intractable pain treatment in cancer patients [38]. These procedures are usually described as "classically ablative" procedures. Definition of the term "ablation" according to Webster's Third New International Dictionary as "removal of an organ or part by surgery" does not reflect the true purpose of this technique [48]. Procedures destroying the pain pathways can be performed with the help of minimally invasive stereotactic methods in our daily practice.

The century of science and technology has witnessed an increase in our average life span. In other words, in the age of science and technology, we are living in a society of advanced age. Thus it is not surprising that the incidence of cancer in this society is higher than was observed in younger societies. It is commonly held that pain is the most classical symptom of cancer disease and is dominant in the terminal stages [10]. As scientists and neurosurgeons we must propose some effective and rational solutions for these patients. Recent technological improvement has facilitated the development of some effective and simple procedures in the treatment of cancer pain, yet they are still not widely used. In this paper, contrary to established opinion, we will present some safe and effective destructive procedures targeting a unique part of the human body for achieving control of intractable cancer pain. The described methods are based on destruction of pain-conducting pathways, but the most important difference is demonstrating the target and destructive elements of the pain destructive equipment (Kanpolat cannula and electrode kits and lesion generator, Cosman Company, Burlington, MA, USA) [18]. For this reason, we have termed this group of procedures as computed tomography (CT)-guided pain procedures [15, 17–19]. In this group, CT-guided percutaneous cordotomy, CT-guided trigeminal tractotomy-nucleotomy and CT-guided extralemniscal myelotomy are presented.

#### CT-Guided percutaneous cordotomy

The pain-conducting tractus was discovered in clinical observations. Müller was the first to report an isolated analgesia observed after lesion of the spinal cord [35]. In this case, the whole of one half of the spinal cord and both dorsal columns had been damaged by a stab wound. The results of the lesion were

anesthesia to touch on both sides and analgesia of the side opposite to the lesion. A few years later, Gowers reported a case of localized injury to the anterolateral column at the level of the 3rd cervical segment, which resulted in complete analgesia with preservation of tactile sensation on the opposite half of the body. From this case, Gowers concluded that the afferent pathway for pain was located at the anterolateral column of the spinal cord [45]. The existence of the spinothalamic tract was evidenced in 1889 by Edinger based on degeneration experiments in amphibians and newborn cats. Schüller performed sectioning of the anterolateral tract in monkeys, and named the procedure chordotomie [41]. It was used for the first time for relief of intractable pain in humans in 1911 by open technique as proposed by Spiller and performed by Martin [46]. The procedure was independently performed by Foerster and Tietze in 1913 [6]. In 1920, Frazier published a series of six cordotomy patients [7]. After this publication, cordotomy was accepted as an important method of pain surgery. Traditionally, cordotomy was an effective method using a posterior approach. The anterior approach in the lower cervical region was described by Cloward and Collis, but has not been widely utilized [2, 3].

Cordotomy is predominantly performed in cancer patients who cannot tolerate open surgery because of their poor clinical condition. Thus, surgeons have searched for noninvasive modalities in the treatment of these patients. In 1963, Mullan et al. described and performed percutaneous cordotomy using radioactive-tipped strontium needle [32]. Because of the uncontrolled effect of the radioactive source, Mullan et al. later tried unipolar anodal electrolytic lesions in 1965 [34]. In the same year, Rosomoff et al. described the technique of percutaneous cordotomy using radiofrequency (RF) electrode system [40]. In the following years, this system was used with impedance measurements and some contrast agents for visualization [9, 47]. Percutaneous cordotomy was routinely performed with the help of X-ray. In 1986, together with my colleagues, I attempted to use CT visualization for pain surgery in the CT unit for extralemniscal myelotomy [15]. We published the first paper regarding CTguided extralemniscal myelotomy two years later, in 1988 [15]. In the following years, we used CT guidance as a classical visualization method in percutaneous stereotactic pain procedures [15, 17, 19, 23-27].

#### Anatomic target

The main anatomic target is the lateral spinothalamic tractus located in the anterolateral part of the spinal cord. Anatomical details of the pain-conducting tractus and especially of the lateral spinothalamic tractus have been presented by us in many papers [24–27]. This target is approached at the C1–2 level (Figs. 1 and 2). Localization of the target is defined by CT visualization (Fig. 4). In our experimental and clinical studies, it has been demonstrated that diametral measurements of the spinal cord are not standard. For this reason, diame-

CT-guided techniques, indications and results



Fig. 1. Schematic drawing of percutaneous approach at the C1-2 level



Fig. 2. Schematic drawing of the target-electrode relation and main anatomical structures in percutaneous cordotomy

tral measurements of the spinal cord are determined for each patient before the procedure and calibration of the inserted part of the active electrode is obtained with the help of these measurements [14].

### Indications and contraindications

Cordotomy operation is principally based on the lesioning of the lateral spinothalamic tractus, which carries pain and temperature sensation. This fiber decussates in the spinal cord. For this reason, the procedure is performed contralateral to the pain site. In the past, the procedure was widely performed for benign and malignant intractable pain patients. In our daily practice, CTguided percutaneous cordotomy is performed especially for cancer patients. The best candidates are those with unilateral localized intractable cancer pain, as seen in mesothelioma of the chest wall or carcinoma of the lower extremities, and those with unilateral localized pain problems [16, 17, 23]. Bilateral CTguided cordotomy is chosen for the patient with intractable pain localized in the lower extremities [22]. Bilateral upper body pain is not accepted because of complication risk. There is a generally accepted opinion that cordotomy is chosen just after morphine therapy [10]. However, we recommend cordotomy just prior to initiation of narcotic agents, even if the patient's survival is less than six months. In the practice of intractable cancer pain treatment, there is a consensus dictating selection of these procedures usually in the terminal stage [50]. Our experience has shown, however, that if we are confident regarding the effectiveness of the procedure for intractable cancer pain, CT-guided percutaneous cordotomy before morphine therapy is a reasonable choice. The rationale of this strategy is based on the effectiveness and safety of the procedure observed over the course of our 20 years of clinical experience. Patients with severe pulmonary dysfunctions and in whom partial oxygen saturation is lower than 80% are not suitable candidates for cordotomy. We also do not employ percutaneous cordotomy if a patient's survival is less than three months. The most important consideration in percutaneous bilateral cordotomy is pain location. I personally do not perform bilateral cordotomy for bilateral upper body cancer pain. Another important contraindication for the procedure is the behavior of the patient and his/her family. The procedure should be considered carefully, particularly in patients receiving long-term treatment with opiate alkaloids, who possibly developed a dependency, and in cases of psychopathic family-patient relations [27].

Indications-contraindications of cordotomy have been summarized in Table 1.

	Indications	Contraindications
Cordotomy	– Unilateral malignancies	<ul> <li>Behavior of the patient and her/his family</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Lower extremities' pathologies (unilateral/bilateral)</li> <li>Failed back syndrome</li> <li>Chronic nociceptive painful conditions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Bilateral upper extremities' pathologies</li> <li>Severe pulmonary dysfunction</li> </ul>

Tabl	e 1
------	-----

## Technique

### Preparation of the patient

The patient should be fasted for five hours before the procedure. The required dose of analgesics is given parenterally. The patient is informed before the procedure by the surgeon. Iohexol (7–8 mL of 240 mg/mL) is given 20–30 minutes before the operation by lumbar puncture. After injection of the contrast medium, the table is repositioned to trendelenburg position and it is kept 15 minutes to see the contrast in cervical region. If the general condition of the patient does not permit lumbar puncture, contrast material is injected during the procedure at the C1–2 level [17, 22, 27].

### Positioning

As stated before, CT-guided cordotomy is performed in the CT unit. After the administration of contrast material, the patient is taken to the CT unit and placed on the CT table in the supine position [24–27]; the head is positioned on the headrest, flexed and fixed with band. The shoulders must be held low. The maximum comfort of the patient must be obtained; if necessary, some neuroleptic analgesics can be given [24–27]. Midazolam 0.5 mg/kg and fentanyl 1  $\mu$ g/kg are used for neurolept anesthesia.



Fig. 3. Lateral radiograph of percutaneous cordotomy

#### Anatomic localization with CT

Before each procedure, routine cranial CT scan is obtained to exclude any intracranial mass lesions (metastasis, etc.). If such lesions are visualized, the procedure was not done. Routine lateral radiograph and axial CT slices of the C1-2 level are obtained. Diametral measurements of the spinal cord are taken, and distance between skin and dura is measured at the C1-2 level. The importance of these measurements described before [14]. The inserted portion of the active electrode is calibrated using diametral measurements of the spinal cord. Local anesthetic is given by separate inserted needle and cordotomy needle is inserted to approach the anterolateral part of the spinal cord at the C1-2 level. Ideal placement of the needle is initially just localized in the anterolateral part of the dura of the upper spinal canal. After every step of cannula movement, new CT slices are taken with lateral scanogram (Fig. 3). The new CT slices are not only for demonstrating the final position of the cannula but also for orienting where the tip of the cannula locates. In some cases, especially in cancer patients, who had radiotherapy before, the dura is very thick and difficult to puncture. If the puncture is painful, additional local anesthetic is given. Repeat CT slices can aid the surgeon in preventing improper puncturing. After the dural puncture, ideal localization of the tip of the cannula (Figs. 4 and 5) is 1 mm anterior to the dentate ligament for lumbosacral fibers and 2-3 mm anterior to the dentate ligament for thoracic and cervical fibers. After achieving the ideal positioning of the needle tip, the straight or curved electrode is inserted [17, 22-27].



**Fig. 4.** Final position of the cannula on axial CT scan at the C1–2 level in percutaneous cordotomy

### Physiologic localization

With the help of neurophysiological confirmation via impedance measurement and stimulation, functional response of the target is confirmed. Impedance measurements are taken to identify whether the active electrode tip is in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (around  $100 \Omega$ ), in contact with the spinal cord (around 300 or 400  $\Omega$ ) or inside the spinal cord (more than 700  $\Omega$ ). The targetelectrode relationships are easily detected by direct visualization of the needleelectrode system under CT guidance [24, 27]. Figure 6a and b present the generator (Cosman RFG-1A) and needle-electrode system used.

### Lesions

With our needle electrode system, permanent lesions can usually be achieved at a tip temperature of greater than 60 °C within 30 seconds. Energy and tip temperature of the active electrode are continuously monitored on the generator and both are gradually increased. During and after the lesioning, motor functions and pain perception and discrimination of hot and cold sensation are tested. Usually, the final lesion is made at 70–80 °C for 60 seconds. If the required level of analgesia is not obtained, the lesion is repeated using the same parameters. We prefer a maximum of three 60-second lesions for unilateral cordotomy. In bilateral cordotomy, we prefer to minimize the number of the lesions, but sometimes use two or three lesions for the dominant pain side [17, 22].



**Fig. 5.** Final position of the electrode on axial CT scan at the C1–2 level in percutaneous cordotomy





b

Fig. 6a and b. The generator (Cosman RFG-1A) (a) and the needle-electrode system used (b)

## Postoperative

After the procedure, patients are usually monitored in the intensive care unit (ICU). If the patient's vital parameters are sufficient, the patient can be sent home 5 or 6 hours after the procedure. We usually inform the patient regarding his/her post-cordotomy life. If the patient has special dependency on some narcotic drugs, the doses will be gradually decreased; there is no standard.

156

Mooij *et al.* have described some causes of failure in high cervical percutaneous cordotomy [33]. In bilateral cordotomy, the patient is usually monitored at least one night in the ICU [23, 27].

### Results and complications

Between 1987 and 2006, we performed 232 CT-guided percutaneous cordotomies in 207 patients. Most (193 cases) suffered from intractable pain related to malignancy. In 12 cases, CT-guided cordotomy was performed bilaterally with a one-week interval. In 181 cases, CT-guided cordotomy was performed unilaterally. In the malignancy group, pulmonary malignancies [58], mesothelioma [23] and Pancoast tumors [15] represented the majority of cases (49.7%). In addition, there were 23 patients with gastrointestinal carcinoma, 21 with metastatic carcinoma, and 53 patients with other types of malignancy. The procedure was also applied to 14 cases with benign pain. The initial success rate of CT-guided percutaneous cordotomy was 95%. The success rate was slightly higher in the malignancy group. In the cancer group, only the painful region of the body was relieved from pain in 83%, thus achieving selective cordotomy. In 12 cases, bilateral selective percutaneous cordotomy was successfully applied [22–27]. Due to respiratory complication risks, 12 bilateral cordotomies were performed in cases of pain only below the chest region. Nevertheless, in bilateral cordotomy Ondine's curse may be a problem. However, the appearance of arrest of nightly breathing (Ondine's curse) is dramatically minimized if between the first and the second side a time lag of one week to ten days is left.

Nowadays, percutaneous cordotomy is often referred to as an old and ablative technique and is usually criticized regarding its success rate, complications and failures. Even in the age of science and technology, based on my own experience I can confirm that cordotomy with CT guidance is a safe and effective method for selected intractable pain patients. After performing more than 300 CT-guided procedures, we can report no mortality and major complications. In 207 percutaneous cordotomy series, there was no mortality or major morbidity. We observed only five cases (2.4%) of temporary motor

#### Table 2

Patients in Cordotomy (Total: 207)

Pulmonary malignancies (58) Mesotheliama (23) Pancoast tumor (15) Gastrointestinal carcinoma (23) Metastatic carcinoma (21) The other malignancies (53) Benign pain (14)

#### Table 3

~	
( omn	licatione
COMP	ncations

Mortality (0%) Major morbidity (0%) Temporary motor complication (2.4%) Temporary ataxia (2.4%) Hypotension (1.4%) Temporary urinary retention (0.9%) Dysesthesia (1.9%)

complication and five cases of temporary ataxia. These complications usually resolved within three weeks. In the bilateral cordotomy series, there were three cases (1.4%) of temporary hypotension and two cases (0.9%) of temporary urinary retention; these also returned to normal. The only true complication post-cordotomy in our series was dysesthesia, seen in four cases (1.9%).

The numbers of the patients and complications have been presented in Tables 2 and 3.

### CT-Guided trigeminal tractotomy-nucleotomy (TR-NC)

Destruction of the descending trigeminal tract in the medulla is known as trigeminal tractotomy. The procedure was first performed in 1938 by Sjöqvist [45]. In 1969, Sweet observed hypoalgesia in the regions innervated by the 7th, 9th, and 10th cranial nerves after trigeminal tractotomy [49]. In 1965, Kunc developed a high cervical approach for cutting the tractus and used the procedure selectively to relieve glossopharyngeal neuralgia, with a high rate of success [28]. Crue et al. and Hitchcock independently developed a stereotactic percutaneous technique using RF thermocoagulation that enabled them to perform the first stereotactic trigeminal tractotomies [4, 13]. Schvarcz used this technique and named the procedure trigeminal nucleotomy to emphasize the significance of creating lesions primarily in the second-order neurons at the oral pole of the nucleus caudalis [43]. In 1990, Nashold et al. described an open surgical technique to destroy the whole substantia gelatinosa of the nucleus caudalis and named the procedure nucleus caudalis DREZ operation [36, 37]. We adapted the CT-guided system to the trigeminal tractotomy in 1989, terming it CT-guided trigeminal tractotomy-nucleotomy (TR-NC) [19, 21], and have routinely performed the procedure since that time.

#### Anatomic target

The main anatomic target is the lateral descending trigeminal tractus located in the posterolateral part of the spinal cord. Anatomical details of the pain con-

158

CT-guided techniques, indications and results



Fig. 7. Schematic drawing of percutaneous TR-NC approach at occiput-C1 level

ducting tractus and especially of the descending trigeminal tractus and nucleus caudalis have been presented by us in several papers [23–26]. This target is approached at the occiput-C1 level (Fig. 6). Localization of the target is defined by CT visualization (Fig. 7). As stated previously, diametral measurements of the spinal cord are taken for each patient before the procedure and calibration of the inserted part of the active electrode is obtained with the help of these measurements.

### Indications and contraindications

Trigeminal TR-NC operation is principally based on the lesioning of the descending trigeminal tractus and nucleus caudalis, which carry pain and temperature sensation fibers of the face, ear and throat. Pertinent anatomy and physiology of the system have been described in previously published papers. These targets are optimum sites for lesioning of the tractus and nucleus. The best candidates for the procedure are patients with unilateral localized intractable central and peripheral 5th, 7th, 9th, and 10th painful areas of the face, ear and throat. In this group, those appropriate for treatment with trigeminal TR-NC operation include patients with anesthesia dolorosa, post-herpetic dysesthesia, atypical facial pain, dysesthetic squeal after previous trigeminal surgery, post-traumatic neuropathy, and head, neck or facial pain due to malignancy, and those with vagal, glossopharyngeal or geniculate neuralgia [19, 21, 24–26]. Occipitocervical bone abnormalities would preclude application of the procedure, but this has not been encountered in our limited practice. Patients with short neck and highly obese patients are also not suitable for TR-NC.

## Technique

## Preparation of the patient

Preparation of the patient is similar to the preparation for percutaneous cordotomy.

## Positioning

CT-guided TR-NC is performed in the CT unit. After the administration of contrast material, the patient is taken to the CT unit and placed on the CT table in the prone position [24–26]; the head is positioned on the headrest, slightly flexed and fixed with band. The chest is elevated and supported with soft pads. A nasal catheter is placed to provide oxygen during the procedure [24–26].

### Anatomic localization with CT

Before each procedure, routine cranial CT scan is obtained. Routine lateral scanogram and axial CT slices of the occiput-C1 level are obtained. Diametral measurements of the spinal cord are taken, and distance between skin and dura is measured at the occiput-C1 level. A 20 or 22 gauge cannula is preferred following injection of the local anesthetic agents; the cannula is inserted at the occiput-C1 level via posterior parasagittal route, 7–8 mm lateral from the mid-line. Placement of the cannula at the occiput-C1 level can be visualized in the lateral scanogram and the direction of the needle can be manipulated toward the occipitocervical space with the help of axial CT sections (Fig. 8). The needle



**Fig. 8.** Schematic drawing of the target-electrode relation and main anatomical structures in percutaneous TR-NC

160

is positioned posterolaterally to the spinal cord (Fig. 9). The best place for the electrode tip is toward the lateral third of the transverse diameter (equator) of the semi-cord (Fig. 10). After achieving the ideal position of the needle tip, the straight or curved electrode is inserted [24–26]. Curved electrode provides a 1 mm more anterior, posterior and lateral, medial extensions in the area.



Fig. 9. Lateral radiograph of TR-NC



Fig. 10. Final position of the cannula on axial CT scan at occiput-C1 level in TR-NC

#### Physiologic localization

With the help of neurophysiological confirmation via impedance measurement and stimulation, functional response of the target is confirmed. Impedance measurements are taken to identify whether the active electrode tip is in the CSF (around  $100 \Omega$ ), in contact with the spinal cord (around 300 or  $400 \Omega$ ) or inside the spinal cord (more than  $700 \Omega$ ). The target-electrode relationships are easily detected by direct visualization of the needle-electrode system by CT-guidance [24–26]. Puncture of the tractus nucleus complex is painful. The patient must be informed in this regard and a neuroleptic anesthetic is mandatory before the insertion. Electrical stimulation with low (2–5 Hz, 0.3–0.5 V) and high (50–100 Hz, 0.2–0.3 V) frequencies is used. Paresthesia of the ipsilateral half of the face can be observed with stimulation in most patients. Geniculate, glossopharyngeal and vagal fibers are usually located posterolaterally to the targets and the patient describes some dysesthetic sensation in the throat or inside the ear, indicating that the tip is in the nociceptive fibers of the 7th and 10th cranial nerves [24–26].

#### Lesions

With our needle electrode system, permanent lesions can usually be achieved at a tip temperature of greater than 40–45 °C within 10–20 seconds. Lesioning of the tractus nucleus complex is painful. Energy and tip temperature of the active electrode are continuously monitored on the generator and both are gradually increased. Some patients cannot tolerate high temperatures around 70 °C. If the patient tolerates 65–70 °C, two or three lesions are performed. Each lesion is of 60 seconds duration [19, 21, 24–26].

#### Postoperative

After the procedure, patients are usually monitored in the ICU. If the patient's vital parameters are sufficient, the patient can be sent home 5 or 6 hours after the procedure. We usually inform the patient regarding his/her post-TR-NC life. If the patient has special dependency on some narcotic drugs, the dose will gradually be decreased; there is no standard [24–26].

#### Results and complications

Between 1987 and 2006, we performed 65 CT-guided trigeminal TR-NC in 61 patients. Complete or partial satisfactory pain control was obtained in 52 patients (88.1%). The first and largest group consisted of 19 patients with atypical facial pain. Total or partial pain control was obtained in 17 patients; in the remaining two, nucleus caudalis DREZ operation was partially effective.

CT-guided techniques, indications and results

Good results were obtained from the group with glossopharyngeal (n: 16) or geniculate (n: 4) neuralgia. In the glossopharyngeal group, pain control was obtained partially or completely in 14 of the 16 cases. In this group, a small lesion was effective. In two cases, the procedure was ineffective. Recurrence was seen in six cases – in two repeated tractotomy, in two additional rhizotomies and in the last two nucleus caudalis DREZ operation controlled the pain attacks. In the geniculate group, we treated four patients with TR-NC. In three of them, the procedure was effective, and in one TR-NC did not control the pain attack. We performed nucleus caudalis DREZ operation. The pain was controlled but the patient died because of severe pulmonary edema on the postoperative 2nd day.

The third largest group consisted of 12 patients with craniofacial and oral cancer pain. In this group, 11 of 12 patients were successfully treated by TR-NC. In one case, pain relief was not complete and in one invasive hypophisial tumor, the pain was not controlled. For these two patients, nucleus caudalis DREZ operation was used but pain control was obtained in only one.

In unilateral post-herpetic neuralgia of the craniofacial region, four cases were treated with TR-NC; in two cases, pain control was obtained, and in one case, nucleus caudalis DREZ was performed but neuropathic pain was not completely controlled. No further treatment was attempted in the fourth case.

Two cases of multi-operated trigeminal neuralgia and one of bilateral trigeminal neuralgia were treated with nucleus caudalis DREZ operation. The procedure was partially effective in all of them.

There was no mortality in CT-guided TR-NC; only six cases (approximately 10%) of transient ataxia were observed. Transient motor complication was observed in two cases at a rate of approximately 3%. All of these complications disappeared in two weeks.

#### CT-Guided extralemniscal myelotomy

Extralemniscal myelotomy is a stereotactic lesioning of the central cord at the cervical medullary junction. The procedure was first performed by Hitchcock in 1968 to destroy the upper cervical commissural fibers and attain analgesia in a patient suffering from pain in his neck and both arms caused by esophageal adenocarcinoma [12]. Later procedures on the central cord show that the lesions caused relief of pain not only in the upper body and extremities but also in the lower body and extremities, as well as relief of visceral cancer pain. In 1976, Schvarcz stated that "The procedure, however, was not aimed at severing segmental decussating fibers, but at interrupting selectively the extralemniscal system. That is an ascending nonspecific polysynaptic pathway" [42]. He named the procedure "extralemniscal myelotomy". Gildenberg and Hirshberg performed limited myelotomy with an open technique at the T-10 level for similar purposes [8, 11]. Nauta *et al.* used central cord lesioning

by an open method at the T-7 and T-4 levels using a punctate incision with a 16-gauge needle [11]. In the past, percutaneous extralemniscal myelotomy has conventionally been performed with the aid of radiographic visualization at the occiput-C1 level, although we have recommended later using CT-guided technique since 1988. In 1997, Nauta *et al.* reported punctate midline myelotomy for destruction of midline dorsal column visceral pathway as demonstrated by Hirshberg *et al.* [8, 11]. The same procedure was repeated by Becker *et al.* for visceral cancer pain [1]. All of these procedures were performed in the central cord region percutaneously or via open procedure.



Fig. 11. Final position of the electrode on axial CT scan at occiput-C1 level in TR-NC



Fig. 12. Schematic drawing of percutaneous extralemniscal myelotomy approach at occiput-C1 level

Since 1986, we have used CT guidance for stereotactic upper cervical central cord lesioning and have named the procedure stereotactic extralemniscal myelotomy [15, 20].

### Anatomic target

The main anatomic target is in the central part of the spinal cord. Anatomical details of the central spinal cord and ascending multi-synaptic pathway have been presented by us in many papers [24–26]. This target is approached at the occiput-C1 level (Fig. 11). Localization of the target is defined by CT visualization (Fig. 12). Diametral measurements of the spinal cord are taken for each patient before the procedure and calibration of the inserted part of the active electrode is obtained with the help of these measurements.

### Indications and contraindications

CT-guided extralemniscal myelotomy operation is principally based on the lesioning of the central cord area at the occiput-C1 level [24–26]. The mechanism of the procedure is not properly known. In my limited experience, the best candidates for the procedure are those with visceral chronic cancer pain of lower abdominal and perianal regions [24–26].

### Technique

### Preparation of the patient

Preparation of the patient is similar to the preparation for percutaneous cordotomy.

### Positioning

CT-guided extralemniscal myelotomy is performed in the CT unit. After the administration of contrast material, the patient is taken to the CT unit and placed on the CT table in the prone position; the head is positioned on the headrest, slightly flexed and fixed with band. The chest is elevated and supported with soft pads. A nasal catheter is placed to provide oxygen during the procedure [24–26].

### Anatomic localization with CT

Before each procedure, routine cranial CT scan is obtained. Routine lateral scanogram and axial CT slices of occiput-C1 level are obtained. Diametral measurements of the spinal cord are taken, and distance between skin and dura is measured at occiput-C1 level. A 20 or 22 gauge cannula is preferred following



**Fig. 13.** Schematic drawing of the target-electrode relation and main anatomical structures in percutaneous extralemniscal myelotomy

injection of the local anesthetic agents; the cannula is inserted at the occiput-C1 level, posterior parasagittal route at the midline. Placement of the cannula at the occiput-C1 level can be seen in the lateral scanogram and the direction of the needle can be manipulated towards the occipitocervical space with the help of axial CT sections (Figs. 13–15). The needle is positioned at the posterior midline of the spinal cord at the occipitocervical level. The best position for the electrode tip is the medial part of the occipitocervical junction of the spinal cord at the occipitocervical junction of the spinal cord at the posterior part of spinal cord at the occipitocervical junction, the active straight electrode is inserted to the midline [24–26].

### Physiologic localization

With the help of neurophysiological confirmation via impedance measurement and stimulation, functional response of the target is confirmed. Impedance measurements are taken to identify whether the active electrode tip is in the CSF (around 100  $\Omega$ ), in contact with the spinal cord (around 300 or 400  $\Omega$ ) or inside the spinal cord (more than 700  $\Omega$ ). The target-electrode relationships are easily detected by direct visualization of the needle-electrode system by CT-guidance [24–26]. Puncture of the posterior part of the spinal CT-guided techniques, indications and results



Fig. 14. Lateral radiograph of extralemniscal myelotomy at occiput-C1 level



Fig. 15. Final position of the cannula on axial CT scan at occiput-C1 level in extralemniscal myelotomy

cord in the midline is not painful. Electrical stimulation with low (2-5 Hz, 0.3-0.5 V) and high (50-100 Hz, 0.2-0.3 V) frequencies is used. Paresthesia of bilateral lower extremities indicates that the electrode is in the proper target [24–26].



Fig. 16. Final position of the electrode on axial CT scan at occiput-C1 level in extralemniscal myelotomy

## Lesions

With our needle electrode system, permanent lesions can usually be achieved at a tip temperature of greater than  $60 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  within 30 seconds. Lesioning of the central cord is not painful. Energy and tip temperature of the active electrode are continuously monitored on the generator and both are gradually increased. Two or three lesions can be performed around  $70-80 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  to the same location [24–26].

## Postoperative

After the procedure, the patient is usually monitored in the ICU. If the patient's vital parameters are sufficient, the patient is sent home 5 or 6 hours after the procedure [24–26].

# Results and complications

Between the years 1987 and 2006, we treated 16 cases with CT-guided extralemniscal myelotomy. Complete or partial satisfactory pain control was obtained in 11 cases. In five cases, no contribution to pain status was obtained. We are not aware of the mechanism of the lesioning of the central cord and for this reason can offer no special comment about this procedure and its results. No particular complication or mortality was seen.

#### Conclusions

Destructive pain surgery is usually applied using stereotactic localization principals. Stereotactic principals and proper localization are needed for morphological target. Morphological localization was not properly obtained in the past, but given the scientific advances in the last two decades, application of direct visualization systems (like CT or magnetic resonance imaging, MRI) have become routine for safe application [5, 15, 17, 19, 31]. The second step of the procedure is physiological localization, which indicates which anatomical structure locates in the target area. This localization is properly obtained using impedance measurements and stimulation. Impedance measurement only provides information about the tissues, but stimulation reveals the function of the target where the tip of the active electrode is located. Another difference in stereotactic destructive pain procedures is the possibility it provides to observe neurological functions of the patient during the procedures. This interactive observation serves as a guide to the surgeon throughout the procedure. In other words, if the surgeon's experience and knowledge about the morphology of the system are adequate and if the physiological evaluation of the target is observed by him/her, the procedures are applied safely and effectively. Despite these great advantages, such procedures have nearly disappeared in current neurosurgical practice. As mentioned previously, despite the availability of new drugs and pump and stimulation techniques, the use of destructive pain procedures is still an option in neurosurgical practice. Aside from their safety and efficacy, their most important advantage is that routine visits to the hospital or doctors for refilling or calibration of systems are no longer necessary. These independent patients are sometimes able to return to their normal life if the primary disease is under control. The other advantage of this destructive procedure is that it is much cheaper than paying for pump or a stimulator. For these reasons, these procedures should be learned by specialist neurosurgeon and must be criticized and evaluated by experienced scientists.

The most important procedure of this group is the cordotomy. Before the CT and MRI era, some criticism of the cordotomy as a destructive method was justified, but given the technological advances, the mortality risk today is nearly zero. We must refer to the procedures mentioned herein as minimally invasive as well. Cordotomy is the best method for controlling unilaterally localized chronic cancer pain states. There is no comparable alternative to it. From among the works of the last two decades, there have been very few large series about percutaneous cordotomy. Two important collected series were published by Lorenz and Sindou [30, 44]. They stated that cordotomy is an effective procedure, but carries high risk of mortality and morbidity, at 0–9%. In bilateral cordotomy, mortality rates increase dramatically, up to 50%. However, these mortality rates are given for the X-ray guided percutaneous cordotomy group [5, 26, 31, 39, 51]. These complications significantly drop, to nearly 0%,

with CT guidance. In the very important work of Lahuerta *et al.* [29], it was reported that approximately 20% of the cord must be destroyed to achieve adequate pain relief. This is a very important point related with the efficiency and complications of percutaneous cordotomy. The most important part of this procedure is anatomically localizing how we approach this 20% of the spinal cord with a real-time, direct, morphologically-based visualization system in place of X-ray visualization. As stated before, the first step of the procedure is anatomical localization, the second must be neurostimulation, and the procedure is finalized with controlled lesioning [24]. Sindou criticized the procedure, citing diminished hypo-analgesia level and percentage of pain relief over time [44]. However, if pain recurs, it is easy to re-operate when necessary with the help of CT-guidance. In our series, in the case of five patients, even though their pain scores were satisfactory, they insisted on repeat cordotomy for the comfort it provided. This is perhaps one of the strongest testimonies to the value of the procedure.

The second procedure in this group (TR-NC) is unique, because with localization of only the 5th, 7th, 9th, and 10th pain fibers in the descending trigeminal tractus and nucleus caudalis; it is possible to denervate these pain nerve areas. In the practice of craniofacial cancer pain treatments, it is not easy to denervate the painful areas of the 5th, 7th, 9th, and 10th nerves. The descending trigeminal tractus and nucleus caudalis are the only targets that enable us to denervate painful areas of these nerves percutaneously [24–27]. This procedure is the exact alternative to nucleus caudalis DREZ operation as a first step in treatment of craniofacial or cranio-oral carcinogenic chronic pain states. In this group, because of the invasion of many cranial nerves, it is not feasible to approach each nerve separately and perform pain procedures. However, TR-NC makes possible the effective and easy control of these symptoms. If we compare the risk of the procedures, ataxia risk was limited and the mortality rate was 0% in our 65 procedures. One of the patients in this group also insisted on reapplication of the procedure despite satisfactory pain scores.

We do not have sufficient knowledge and experience about central cord lesioning, but I believe that the central cord area is an important target area for visceral cancer pain. In the near future, after gaining an understanding of real functions of visceral ascending systems, these procedures will be standardized and widely used in neurosurgical practice. Finally, I believe destructive pain procedures are highly effective in controlling some special intractable chronic cancer pain. These procedures must be performed by the neurosurgeon and must be popularized in view of their safety and effectiveness.

#### Acknowledgement

This work was partly supported by the Turkish Academy of Sciences. I express my gratitude to Mrs. Mukaddes Kurum Yucel for her assistance in writing the manuscript, Mrs. Corinne Logue Can for her language editing, and Dr. Ahmet Sinav for his creative illustrations. This paper is dedicated to the memories of Dr. Murat Rezaki and Dr. Gunfer Gurer Aydin.

### References

- Becker R, Sure U, Bertalanffy H (1999) Punctate midline myelotomy a new approach in the management of visceral pain. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 141: 881–883
- 2. Cloward RB (1964) Cervical cordotomy by an anterior approach; report of a case. J Neurosurg 20: 445
- 3. Collis JS Jr (1963) Anterolateral cordotomy by an anterior approach; report of a case. J Neurosurg 20: 445
- Crue BL, Carregal JA, Felsoory A (1972) Percutaneous stereotactic radiofrequency. Trigeminal tractotomy with neurophysiological recordings. Confin Neurol 34: 389–397
- Fenstermaker RA, Sternau LL, Takaoka Y (1995) CT-assisted percutaneous anterior cordotomy: technical note. Surg Neurol 43(2): 147–149; discussion 149–150
- Foerster O (1927) Die Leitungsbahnen des Schmerzgefühls und die chirurgische Behandlung der Schmerzzustände. Urban & Schwarzenberg, Berlin, p 360
- Frazier CH (1920) Section of the anterolateral columns of the spinal cord for the relief of pain. A report of six cases. Arch Neurol Psychiat 4: 137–147
- Gildenberg PL, Hirshberg RM (1981) Treatment of cancer pain with limited myelotomy. Med J St Jos Hosp (Houston) 16: 199–224
- Gildenberg PL, Zanes C, Flitter M et al (1969) Impedance measuring device for detection of penetration of the spinal cord in anterior percutaneous cervical cordotomy. Technical note. J Neurosurg 30: 87–92
- Gybels JM (1995) Indications for the use of neurosurgical techniques in pain control. In: Bond MR, Charlton JE, Wolf J (eds) Proceedings of the Sixth World Congress on Pain. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 475
- 11. Hirshberg RM, Al-Chaer ED, Lawand NB *et al* (1996) Is there a pathway in the posterior funiculus that signals visceral pain? Pain 67: 291–305
- Hitchcock E (1970) Stereotactic cervical myelotomy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 33: 224
- 13. Hitchcock ER (1970) Stereotactic trigeminal tractotomy. Ann Clin Res 19: 131-135
- 14. Kanpolat Y, Akyar S, Caglar S (1995) Diametral measurements of the upper spinal cord for stereotactic pain procedures: experimental and clinical study. Surg Neurol 43: 478
- 15. Kanpolat Y, Atalag M, Deda H et al (1988) CT-guided extralemniscal myelotomy. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 91: 151
- Kanpolat Y, Caglar S, Akyar S *et al* (1995) CT-guided pain procedures for intractable pain in malignancy. Acta Neurochir Suppl 64: 88–91
- 17. Kanpolat Y, Deda H, Akyar S et al (1989) CT-guided percutaneous cordotomy. Acta Neurochir Suppl 46: 67
- Kanpolat Y, Cosman E (1996) Special RF electrode system for CT-guided pain procedures. Neurosurgery 38: 600–603
- Kanpolat Y, Deda H, Akyar S *et al* (1989) CT-guided trigeminal tractotomy. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 100: 112

- 20. Kanpolat Y, Savas A, Caglar S, Akyar S (1997) Computerized tomography-guided percutaneous extralemniscal myelotomy. Neurosurg Focus 2, Article 5
- 21. Kanpolat Y, Savas A, Caglar S, Aydin V, Tascioglu B, Akyar S (1999) Computed tomographyguided percutaneous trigeminal tractotomy-nucleotomy. Tech Neurosurg 5: 244–251
- 22. Kanpolat Y, Savas A, Caglar S, Temiz C, Akyar S (1997) Computerized tomography-guided percutaneous bilateral selective cordotomy. Neurosurg Focus 2(1), Article 4
- Kanpolat Y (2003) Cordotomy for pain. In: Schulder M (ed) Handbook of stereotactic and functional neurosurgery. Marcel & Dekker, New York, pp 459–472
- Kanpolat Y (2004) Percutaneous cordotomy, tractotomy, and midline myelotomy, minimally invasive stereotactic pain procedures, seminars in neurosurgery, vol. 2/3. Thieme, Stuttgart, pp 203–220
- Kanpolat Y (2002) Percutaneous stereotactic pain procedures: percutaneous cordotomy, extralemniscal myelotomy, trigeminal tractotomy-nucleotomy. In: Burchiel K (ed) Surgical management of pain. Thieme, Stuttgart, pp 745–762
- Kanpolat Y (2004) The surgical treatment of chronic pain: destructive therapies in the spinal cord. Neurosurgery Clin N Am 15: 307–317
- Kanpolat Y (1998) Percutaneous cervical cordotomy for persistent pain. In: Gildenberg PL, Tasker RR (eds) Textbook of stereotactic and functional neurosurgery. McGraw-Hill Inc, New York, pp 1485–1490
- Kunc Z (1965) Treatment of essential neuralgia of the 9th nerve by selective tractotomy. J Neurosurg 23: 494–500
- 29. Lahuerta J, Lipton S, Wells JC (1985) Percutaneous cervical cordotomy: results and complications in a recent series of 100 patients. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 67: 41–44
- Lorenz R (1976) Methods of percutaneous spinothalamic tract section. In: Krayenbühl H, Brihaye J et al (eds) Advances and technical standards in neurosurgery. Springer, Wien New York 3: 123–154
- 31. Mc Girt MJ, Villavicencio AT, Bulsara KR, Gorecki J (2002) MRI-guided frameless stereotactic percutaneous cordotomy. Sterotact Funct Neurosurg 78(2): 53–63
- 32. Mullan S, Harper PV, Hekmatpanahh J *et al* (1963) Percutaneous interruption of spinal-pain tracts by means of a strontium-90 needle. J Neurosurg 20: 931–939
- Mooij JJ, Bosch DA, Beks JW (1984) The cause of failure in high cervical pecutaneous cordotomy. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 72: 1–14
- 34. Mullan S, Hekmatpanah J, Dobben G *et al* (1965) Percutaneous, intramedullary cordotomy utilizing the unipolar anodal electrolytic lesion. J Neurosurg 22: 548–553
- Müller W (1938) Beiträge zur pathologischen Anatomie und Physiologie des menschlichen Rückenmarks. Leipzig 1871 in Olof Sjöqvist's Studies on pain conduction in the trigeminal nerve, Helsingors 1938. Mercators Tryckeri, p 85
- Nashold BS, El-Naggar A, Abdulhak MM, Ovelman-Levitt J, Cosman E (1992) Trigeminal nucleus caudalis dorsal root entry zone: a new surgical approach. Stereotac Func Neurosurg 59: 45–51
- Nashold BS, Rossitch E (1990) Anesthesia dolorosa and the trigeminal caudalis nucleus DREZ operation. In: Rovit RL, Murali R, Janetta PJ (eds) Trigeminal neuralgia. William & Wilkins, Baltimore, pp 223–237
- Poletti CE (2006) Open cordotomy and medullary tractotomy. In: Schmidek, Sweet (eds) Operative neurosurgical techniques, 5th edn. Saunders & Elsevier, Philadelphia & Amsterdam, pp 1559–1572

CT-guided techniques, indications and results

- Raslan A (2005) Percutaneous computed tomography-guided transdiscal low cervical cordotomy for cancer pain as a method to avoid sleep apnea. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 83(4): 159–164
- 40. Rosomoff HL, Carroll F, Brown J et al (1965) Percutaneous radiofrequency cervical cordotomy: technique. J Neurosurg 23: 639–644
- Schüller A (1910) Über operative Durchtrennung der Rückenmarksstränge (Chordotomie). Wien Med Wschr 60: 2291
- Schvarcz JR (1976) Stereotactic extralemniscal myelotomy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 39: 53–57
- 43. Schvarcz JR (1975) Stereotactic trigeminal tractotomy. Confinia Neurol 37: 73-77
- 44. Sindou M, Jeanmonod D, Merten P (1990) Ablative neurosurgical procedures for the treatment of chronic pain. Neurophysiol Clin 20: 399–423
- 45. Sjöqvist O (1938) Studies on pain conduction in the trigeminal nerve. A contribution to the surgical treatment of facial pain. Acta Psychiatr Neurol Scand Suppl XVII: 93
- 46. Spiller WG, Martin E (1912) The treatment of persistent pain of organic origin in the lower part of the body by division of the antero-lateral column of the spinal cord. JAMA 58: 1489
- Taren JA, Davis R, Crosby EC (1969) Target physiologic corroboration in stereotaxic cervical cordotomy. J Neurosurg 30: 569–584
- 48. Webster's Third New International Dictionary. Springfield, Massachusetts: Merriam-Webster; 1993: 4
- 49. White JC, Sweet WH (1969) Pain and the neurosurgeon. Charles C. Thomas Publisher, Springfield, IL, pp 232-243
- 50. World Health Organization (1996) Cancer pain relief and palliative care, 2nd edn. WHO, Geneva
- Yegul I, Erhan E (2003) Bilateral CT-guided percutaneous cordotomy for cancer pain relief. Clin Radiol 58(11): 886–889